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Dennis 1. Wilenchik, Esg. #005350
admin@wb-law.com
Attorneys for Plaintiff Kyle Welsh

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA
KYLE WELSH, ESTATE OF JILL

WELSH, AND WW YOUNG MONEY, Case No.
LLC d/b/a FLAME ON INDIAN SMOKE
SHOP,

Plaintiffs, COMPLAINT
V.

REBECCA LOUDBEAR, AMELIA (Jury Trial Requested)

FLORES, JOHN YACKLEY, JOHN DOES
I-XX, AND JANE DOES I-XX,

Defendants.

Plaintiff Kyle Welsh alleges as follows:
PARTIES

1. Plaintiff Kyle Welsh (“Plaintiff” or “Welsh”) resides in Weatherford, Texas, and is
a member of the Colorado River Indian Tribes (“CRIT”). Plaintiff’s co-owner was Jill Welsh
who is now deceased.

2. Plaintiff Estate of Jill Welsh owns personal and real property, including membership
interests in Defendant WW Young Money, LLC d/b/a Flame On Indian Smoke Shop and any
profit interests accruing to the Estate of Jill Welsh. Ms. Welsh was the sister of Plaintiff Kyle

Welsh and was also a CRIT tribal member. She is deceased.
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3. Plaintiff WW Young Money, LLC, is an Arizona limited liability company that did
business in Parker, Arizona, on the Colorado River Indian Tribal Reservation. Plaintiffs Kyle
Welsh and Estate of Jill Welsh own the membership interests of WW Young, LLC.

4, Defendant Rebecca Loudbear (“Loudbear”) is an employee of the Colorado River
Indian Tribes and is a resident of La Paz County, Arizona, employed as the Attorney General for
the Colorado River Indian Tribes. Defendant Loudbear is not a member of the Colorado River
Indian Tribes. Defendant John Doe Loudbear is believed to be Loudbear’s husband and all acts
of Loudbear are alleged to have been performed by or on behalf of the community existing
between them and thus their community is liable for all acts complained of herein by Loudbear.

5. Defendant Amelia Flores (“Flores™”) is the Chairwoman of the Colorado River
Indian Tribes Tribal Council and resides in La Paz County, Arizona. Ms. Flores is a CRIT tribal
member. She is sued herein in her individual capacity along with John Doe Flores and the
community between them. All acts of Flores were done by and on behalf of the community
between them and John Doe Flores is thus liable for any acts of Flores.

6. Defendant John Yackley (“Yackley”) is the former manager of the CRIT-owned
Moolyava Plaza at 117 Riverside Dr., in Parker, Arizona. Upon information and belief, he now
lives in Pocahantas, Tennessee, and is believed to be married to Jane Doe Yackley. All acts of
Yackley were committed here in his individual capacity and by and on behalf of the marital
community existing between he and his wife and as such their community is liable.

7. Upon information and belief, Defendants John Doe | through John Doe XX and Jane
Does | through Jane Does XX are individuals who acted in concert with, and in conspiracy with,
each and every one of the remaining Defendants and participated in the racketeering activity
described herein but whose identities are not yet known. Plaintiff will amend his Complaint to
allege said Doe Defendants’ true names and capacities when such information has been
ascertained.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this diversity of jurisdiction action

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and the matter arises under a federal law, 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c).

2




© 0O N oo O B~ wWw N -

[ NG T N T N S N T N T N S N T N S T T T e e e S
0o N o g B~ W N P O © 0o N o 00D~ W N P O

Case 2:25-cv-01159-SMB  Document1  Filed 04/05/25 Page 3 of 40

9. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because the events
giving rise to the claims occurred in this District, a substantial part of the events or omissions
giving rise to the claim occurred in this District, and the enterprise affected interstate commerce
and conducted activities in this District.

10.  On March 1, 2015, Kyle and Jill Welsh entered into a lease agreement with CRIT
for occupancy of space at the Moovalya Plaza at 117 W. Riverside Dr., in Parker, Arizona. The
lease term was for five years starting March 1, 2015, and ending February 28, 2020. A copy of
this lease is attached hereto as Exhibit 1.

11.  In April 2020, the Moovalya Plaza lease was renewed for an additional five year
term expiring on February 28, 2025. The lease renewal is attached hereto as Exhibit 2.

12.  All Defendants individually or by virtue of their participation in the conspiracy
formed against Plaintiffs were aware of the lease and or its terms.

13.  Plaintiffs’ smoke shop was fully compliant and licensed with CRIT and the Arizona
Department of Revenue for tax-exempt tobacco sales on the CRIT Reservation and all Defendants
knew this by virtue of their participation in the conspiracy alleged herein.

14.  Beginning on or about April 8, 2021, and continuing thereafter, Defendants and
others, presently unknown, conducted the affairs of the “Running Man Criminal Organization”
(“RMCQO”) through a pattern of racketeering activity consisting of felony predicate acts in such

manner so as to destroy Plaintiffs and their lease, and their business, and to cause it to be overtaken

by others.
15.  The Running Man Criminal Organization is an “enterprise” as such term is defined
in 18 U.S.C. 8 1961(4). The group of individuals who constituted the Running Man Criminal

Organization are associated in fact. They include Defendants Amelia Flores, Rebecca Loudbear,
and John Yackley.

16. The Running Man Criminal Organization constituted an ongoing organization
whose members functioned as a continuing unit for a common purpose of achieving the criminal

objectives of the enterprise.
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17. On April 8, 2021, Defendants Loudbear and Flores, purported to terminate
Plaintiff’s lease at Moolyava Plaza for non-payment of rent and abandonment when they knew,
in fact this was not true. A copy of the lease termination letter is attached hereto as Exhibit 3.

18.  Plaintiffs did in fact pay the rent on time, but such checks were never negotiated by
CRIT for reasons unknown to Plaintiffs, nor deposited as a credit reflecting timely lease payment
by Plaintiffs.

19.  With respect to any claims Defendants made of abandonment, they knew CRIT had
enacted a resolution ordering all non-essential businesses on the CRIT Reservation to close from
April 1, 2020, through March 31, 2022.

20.  Despite the timely sending of rent checks and the mandated closure of non-essential
businesses, Defendants Loudbear, Flores, and Yackley nonetheless entered the leased premises
without permission or under any authority of law, and obtained possession of Plaintiff’s business
property and inventory worth in excess of this Court’s threshold jurisdiction, and converted the
property to their own use and or control.

21. In communicating the illegal termination of lease notification, Defendants
committed violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1341 (mail fraud) and 18 U.S.C. § 1343 (wire fraud).

22.  Inorabout August 2021, Defendant Loudbear then attempted to extort money from
Plaintiffs under the guise of recovering their own property, demanding $18,720.00 to allow
Plaintiffs access to their property.

23.  Plaintiffs subsequently discovered that their business property and inventory had
been unlawfully converted by Defendants. Since April 8, 2021, Defendants directed cigarettes,
cigars, tobacco, accessories, and equipment out of Plaintiff’s smoke shop known as “Flame On
Indian Smoke Shop” and converted those items into goods they then sold at Running Man Fuel
Station Smoke Shop and Blue Water Resort & Casino Gift Shop without paying Plaintiffs
anything for their property.

24.  On information and belief Defendants may have provided Plaintiffs’ property to
others not fully known at this time, who assisted in the conversion and sale of Plaintiffs’ goods

and property Defendants unlawfully stole from Plaintiffs.
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25.  Defendant Loudbear and other defendants coordinated their efforts in a conspiracy
to seek the false imprisonment of Plaintiff Kyle Welsh by providing false information to federal
law enforcement authorities, which resulted in the issuance of a federal warrant and the
prosecution of fictitious criminal charges against Kyle Welsh which damaged his reputation and
caused him severe harm and emotional distress.

26.  Mr. Welsh was thus wrongfully arrested in Las Vegas, Nevada, as a result of
Defendants’ concerted actions.

27.  Mr. Welsh was transported to Florence, Arizona, where he remained incarcerated
for nearly one year, because of Defendants’ wrongful acts and false reporting to officials, while
federal prosecutors continued their “investigation,” which relied heavily upon statements made
by these Defendants and others presently not fully known, who helped advance Defendants’ false
narrative against Plaintiff Welsh.

28. Among the false statements told to federal investigators, Defendant Loudbear
falsely claimed that Plaintiff Welsh had contacted CRIT about selling his business, when, in fact,
Defendants had conspired to seize the business.

29.  In or about December 2022, believed to be at the direction of or instruction of
Defendants CRIT investigator Charles Solano traveled to Florence, Arizona, to harass and
intimidate Plaintiff and to obstruct the federal investigation. As a result Welsh continued to be
detained in Florence, Arizona.

30.  The lease termination letter sent to Plaintiffs contained the following three false and
fraudulent statements of alleged lease violations, and pursuant to the Defendants’ conspiracy and
scheme and artifice to defraud Plaintiffs, and to take over their operations and or to destroy them:

31. (1) “OCCUPATION OF THE PREMISES WITHOUT PERMISSION OR
AGREEMANT, FOLLOWING A REASONABLE DEMAND BY APERSON IN AUTHORITY
OVER THE PREMISIS TO LEAVE.”

32. (2) “NONPAYMENT OF RENT UNDER AN AGREEMENT FOR THE LEASE
OF THE PREMISES WHEN SUCH PAYMENTS ARE NOT MADE AFTER (10) CALENDER
DAYS OF THE AGREEMENT DATE FOR PAYMENT.”
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33.  (3) “NUISSANCE, WASTE, INTENTIONAL OR RECKLESS DAMAGE ,
DESTRUCTION OR INJURY TO THE PROPERTY OF THE LANDLORD OR TENANTS.”

34.  Defendants knew these statements were false and yet prepared and sent these false
statements nevertheless to Plaintiffs. Defendants knew that checks representing lease payments
for March, April, and May 2021 had been sent to Moovalya Plaza Manager and Defendant herein,
John Yackley via FedEx with signature verification. These payments were sent to Moovalya Plaza
ATTN: John Yackley 149 W. Riverside Dr., Parker, AZ. 85344-5221 with tracking and delivery
notification. These FedEx Envelopes were all electronically verified, signed and received by
Moovalya Plaza Manager, Defendant John Yackley at his office. The April 8th lease termination
letter references and acknowledges receiving these payments. None of the three lease payment
checks were deposited, cashed, or otherwise processed but “[n]Jon-payment of rent” was set forth
as a cause for termination in the termination letter nonetheless.

35. The April 8th lease termination notice also falsely references an incident that
allegedly occurred on February 2020 on Airport Rd. and AZ State Highway 95 in which
Defendant Loudbear claimed that Welsh caused damage to CRIT property thereby violating CRIT
Property Code Section 1-301(d). Welsh denies causing any damage to CRIT property, and the
ensuing prosecution occurred due to coordination with and conversations and/or orders received
from Defendants Loudbear and Flores as part of their conspiracy, and were recounted from
Defendants’ perspective as a basis for the lease termination in the Notice.

36. Defendants Loudbear and Flores are both identified as senders of the April 8th lease
termination letter with Flores’ signature affixed thereto. Defendant Yackley is identified as the
contact who would retrieve Kyle Welsh’s business property.

37. Defendants Loudbear and Yackley posted a false Notice on the inside of the Plaza
Suite Space front door located at the Moovalya Plaza, 117 W. Riverside Dr., Parker, AZ 85344.
The Notice read “Re: NOTICE OF ABANDONMENT SUITE 117 PARKER, AZ.” The top
portion of the Notice included the statement, “CERTIFIED MAIL RETURN RECIEPT
REQUESTED” and was dated May 12, 2021. The Notice directly named Plaintiff Kyle Welsh.
The Notice stated that “ALL PERSONAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT 117 W. RIVERSIDE DR.
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IN MOOLVALYA PLAZA IS DEEMED ABANDONED AND IS SUBJECT TO RETAKING
IN TERM (10) DAYS FROM THE DATE ON THIS NOTICE.” Defendants Rebecca Loudbear
and John Yackley are both listed as the senders of the notice. A Photo of this Notice affixed to the
Front Door is attached hereto as Exhibit 4.

38.  Attorney Odin Smith contacted Defendants Loudbear, and Yackley in September
2021 by telephone and email to formally notify them that he represented Plaintiffs.

39. On September 30, 2021, Defendant Loudbear e-mailed Attorney Odin Smith,
counsel for Welsh at the time, with a copy of a CRIT Abandoned Property Resolution enacted in
1993, and further stated “WE WILL FOLLOW UP STORAGE FEES.”

40.  On October 19, 2021, Defendants Loudbear and Chris Burley emailed Attorney
Odin Smith with a copy of the purported lease balance showing that $18,720.00 was the total
balance showed owed. It was false. The e-mail also purported to contain a copy of the CRIT
Accounting Department’s Report on the matter. The e-mail also stated that upon payment of the
$18,720.00 amount, Plaintiffs could retrieve their business property. Attorney Odin Smith called
the Defendant Loudbear to verify that $18,720.00 in full rent, not a storage fee, was claimed, and
would be required before any property retrieval. A copy of this email and phone call verification
is attached hereto as Exhibit 5. In fact, nothing was truly or properly owed and Defendants knew
it.

41. Defendant Loudbear attended a Multi-Disciplinary Meeting or “MDT Meeting”
with United States Federal Arizona Criminal Prosecutor Christina Reid-Moore in attendance. At
this MDT Meeting the Defendant Loudbear attempted to initiate a bogus criminal charge against
Plaintiff Kyle Welsh in an attempt to go on the offense to to hinder, or dissuade Plaintiff Welsh
from bringing a civil lawsuit against the Defendants. Defendant Loudbear referenced the
“SMOKE SHOP AND CONTACT VIA ATTORNEY” and falsely claimed “THE SMOKE
BUSINESS IN ITS ENTIRETY WAS PURCHASED BY CRIT” at this MDT Meeting.

42.  Upon information and belief, on or about March 17, 2022, Defendant Loudbear
emailed Christina Reid-Moore USAAZ Federal Criminal Prosecutor with contact information for

Attorney Odin Smith to initiate a criminal charge against the Plaintiff Welsh.
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43.  On March 30, 2022, FBI Special Agent Kemper Mills e-mailed Marwin Smith about
the whereabouts for Plaintiff Kyle Welsh and the sale of his smoke shop in Parker, AZ. FBI
Special Agent Kemper Mills emailed Christina Reid-Moore writing “MY UNDERSTANDING
IS REBECCA LOUDBEAR CC’D AND PROVIDED YOU SOME INFORMATION
CONCERNING HIS ATTORNEY CONTACTING THE TRIBE IN REGARD TO THE SALE
OF HIS SMOKE SHOP (SEE BELOW). APPARANTLY, HE LIVES IN TEXAS NOW. | WAS
ADVISED THIS WAS DISCUSSED AT THE RECENT MDT. | WAS NOT A PART OF THE
MDT.” A copy of this email exchange is attached hereto as Exhibit 6.

44.  In October 2024, Tim Stevens and his mother Stephanie Stevens witnessed the
second known and confirmed robbery of the store contents, and removal of its business property
that was initiated by the Defendants. This included the removal of what was left behind after the
May 2021 robbery.

45.  In November 2024, a new tenant was placed at the Moovalya Plaza 117 Suite, which
is where Plaintiff’s smoke shop conducted business before it was shut down by Defendants’
conduct.

46.  InJanuary 2025, former Arizona Attorney General and then attorney for Plaintiffs,
Mark Brnovich inquired about Plaintiffs’ inventory and business property with Attorney Rachel
Saimons who by then was representing CRIT as outside legal counsel. None of the business
property and inventory was ever returned to Plaintiffs. Nor were damages paid or offered to
Plaintiffs for the loss of this or their lease.

47.  These acts of Defendants caused millions of dollars in losses of income, profits and
business property belonging to Plaintiff, which damages were foreseeable.

48.  Plaintiff Kyle Welsh suffered physical injuries and emotional distress directly
because of Defendants’ racketeering actions, which harm was foreseeable.

49.  Plaintiffs have been injured in their business and property by reason of Defendants’
violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) and (d).
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COUNT I
RICO Violation (18 U.S.C. 1962(c))
(Against All Defendants)

50. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth
herein.

51. Defendants, constitute an enterprise within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1961(4). The
enterprise, led by Defendants Loudbear and Flores, is an ongoing organization, association, or
group of individuals associated in fact for the purpose of conspiring to damage Plaintiffs and take
over their business enterprise through the use of one or more felonies in proximity to one another.

52.  The enterprise engaged in a pattern of racketeering activity within the meaning of
18 U.S.C. 8 1961(5). The racketeering activity included, but is not limited to successive and
related felonies:

a. Interference with Commerce by Robbery, Extortion, Threats, and Violence,
(18 U.S.C. § 1951):

C. Obstruction of Justice (18 U.S.C. 88 1510 and 1503);

d. Theft (18 U.S.C. § 661);

e. Obstruction of a criminal investigation (18 U.S.C. § 1510); and

f. Mail and Wire Fraud (18 U.S.C. 88 1341 and 1343).

53. The predicate felony acts described above constitute a pattern of racketeering
activity within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1961(5).

54.  The predicate acts related to the operation of the criminal enterrpise.

55.  These predicate acts were related and had continuity, thus forming a pattern of
racketeering activity and a threat of continued racketeering activity.

56.  As adirect and proximate result of Defendants’ violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c),

Plaintiffs have been injured in their business and property.
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57.  Plaintiffs have suffered resulting damages including, but not limited to, lost profits,
loss of business property and inventory, and emotional distress and pain and suffering as a result
of Defendants’ conduct.

COUNT TWO
RICO CONSPIRACY (18 U.S.C. § 1962(d))
(Against All Defendants)

58.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth
herein.

59. Defendants conspired to violate 18 U.S.C. 8 1962(c), as set forth in Count One.
Defendants agreed to join in the unlawful conspiracy to commit illegal acts as set forth herein,
and to commit predicate acts and participate in the affairs of the enterprise knowing it would cause
damage to Plaintiffs.

60. By Defendants’ commission of the various predicate offenses enumerated above,
the Defendants committed several overt acts in furtherance of the conspiracy.

61. As adirect and proximate result of Defendants’ conspiracy to violate 18 U.S.C. §
1962(c), Plaintiffs have been injured in their business and property. Plaintiffs have suffered
resulting damages including, but not limited to, lost profits, loss of business property and
inventory, and emotional distress.

62.  Atrial by jury is sought.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for judgment against Defendants jointly and severally as
follows:

A. For an award of compensatory damages in an amount sufficient to make Plaintiffs
whole for the loss of income, lost profits and reimbursement for lost property and inventory,
including any lost benefits resulting from Defendants’ conduct for past or future losses;

B. For an award of special damages to reimburse Plaintiff for costs of medical
treatment and care and for general damages for pain and suffering, emotional distress, harm to
reputation and other consequential losses incurred by Plaintiff because of Defendants’ conduct;

C. For an award of punitive and treble damages;

10
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D. For an award of prejudgment and post-judgment interest;
E. For an award of the attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c); and
F. For an award of such other relief as the Court may deem just and proper.
DATED this 5™ day of April 2025.
WILENCHIK & BARTNESS, P.C.

/s/ Dennis |. Wilenchik

Dennis 1. Wilenchik, Esq.

The Wilenchik & Bartness Building
2810 North Third Street

Phoenix, Arizona 85004
admin@wb-law.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff Kyle Welsh
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EXHIBIT 1

WILENCHIK & BARTNESS

— A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION ——
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EXHIBIT 2

WILENCHIK & BARTNESS

— A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION ——
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EXHIBIT 3

WILENCHIK & BARTNESS

— A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION ——
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EXHIBIT 4

WILENCHIK & BARTNESS

——— A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION ——
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EXHIBIT 5

WILENCHIK & BARTNESS

— A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION ——
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Requested Items 7.8.2024 -5

From: kyle welsh (kylewelsh2002(@yahoo.com)
To:  mbrnovich@bsfllp.com

Date: Monday, July 8, 2024 at 07:22 PM MST

12) Perkins Coie Email Balance Request

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Smith, Odin (WDC)" <OSmith@perkinscoie.com>

Date: October 19, 2021 at 12:11:13 PM CDT

To: "MacLean, Jena (WDC)" <JMacLean@perkinscoie.com>, "Ford, Aimee E. (WDC)"
<AFord@perkinscoie.com>

Subject: FW: 117 W. Riverside Drive, W W Young Money LLC Balance Detail

Here is what CRIT claims is owed on the lease—as expected, full rent for March-October. Burley said
that once it was settled we could arrange through him to retrieve the property but that if we wanted to

negotiate the amount we would need to talk to Rebecca Loudbear.

Do you want to discuss how to proceed before | forward to Kyle?

Odin Smith | Perkins Coie LLP
202.654.6344

From: Chris Burley <chris.burley@crit-nsn.gov>

Sent: Tuesday, October 19, 2021 1:00 PM

To: Smith, Odin (WDC) <OSmith@perkinscoie.com>

Cc: Rebecca Loudbear <rloudbear@critdoj.com>

Subject: 117 W. Riverside Drive, W W Young Money LLC Balance Detail

Mr. Smith,

Here is the balance detail report | received back from our accounting department for W W Young
Money LLC and shows a balance owed of $18,720.

Please let me know if you need anything further.
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EXHIBIT 6

WILENCHIK & BARTNESS

— A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION ——
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